Lancashire Health and Wellbeing Board

Minutes of the Meeting held on Tuesday, 20th November, 2018 at 10.00 am in Committee Room 'C' (The Duke of Lancaster Room) - County Hall, Preston

Present:

Chair

County Councillor Shaun Turner, Lancashire County Council

Committee Members

County Councillor Graham Gooch, Lancashire County Council County Councillor Mrs Susie Charles, Lancashire County Council Dr Sakthi Karunanithi, Lancashire County Council Louise Taylor, Lancashire County Council John Readman, Lancashire County Council Councillor Bridget Hilton, Central District Council Councillor Barbara Ashworth, East Lancashire District Council Councillor Margaret France, Central HWBP Greg Mitten, Interim Chair of West Lancashire HWBP Adrian Leather, Third Sector Representative Tammy Bradley, Housing Providers David Russel, Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service Dr Tom Marland, Fylde and Wyre CCG Alex Walker, East Lancashire CCG Professor Max Marshall, Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust Denis Gizzi, Chorley and South Ribble CCG and Greater Preston CCG Sam Gorton, Lancashire County Council Julia Westway, Morecambe Bay CCG

Apologies

County Councillor Geoff Driver Lancashire County Council

CBE

Cllr Viv Willder Fylde Coast District Council

Jacqui Thompson North Lancashire HWB Partnership
Clare Platt Health Equity, Welfare & Partnerships

1. Welcome, introductions and apologies

The Chair welcomed all to the meeting.

Apologies were noted as above.

Replacements were as follows:

Alex Walker for Mark Youlton, East Lancashire CCG

Professor Max Marshall for Professor Heather Tierney-Moore, Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust

Dr Tom Marland for Peter Tinson, Fylde and Wyre CCG Julia Westway for Dr Geoff Jolliffe, Morecambe Bay CCG

2. Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests

There were no disclosures of interest in relation to items appearing on the agenda.

3. Minutes of the Last Meeting held on 18 September 2019

Resolved: That the Board agreed the minutes of the last meeting.

4. Action Sheet and Forward Plan

Updates on actions from 18 September 2018 were received.

Mental Health and Wellbeing – Time to Change Hub – The application for a Time to Change Hub had been submitted and the outcome was due mid-December 2018.

All other actions had been added to the forward plan.

Since the circulation of the agenda papers, the forward plan had been revised.

Resolved: Sam Gorton to circulate a copy of the revised forward plan for comments to the Board.

If there were any other items for the forward plan, these should be sent to Sam Gorton, email sam.gorton@lancashire.gov.uk who would bring them to the Chair's attention for consideration.

5. Adult Services and Health and Wellbeing Update

Louise Taylor, Executive Director of Adult Services and Health and Wellbeing presented the attached PowerPoint.

The Care, Support and Wellbeing of Adults in Lancashire Vision, which was recently approved by Lancashire County Council's Cabinet, set out how the county council, together with its partners, would help people to live as independently and healthily as possible. The document recognised the need to keep pace with people's changing needs and expectations, whilst addressing the increasing demands upon public services at a time of significant financial pressure.

The Vision also signalled how services would be designed and delivered in the future, acknowledging that partners, the NHS in particular, had a key role to play in preventing and reducing long term physical and mental health conditions, and addressing the significant variations in health outcomes within the Lancashire population.

The Housing with Care Strategy which was also approved by Lancashire County Council's Cabinet, outlined the county council's intentions in relation to the development of housing with care and support for older adults and younger adults with disabilities. It would be used to engage with a wider audience as part of a collaborative approach to developing a range of high quality housing with care and support schemes across Lancashire by 2025 for both older adults and younger adults with disabilities.

The Care, Support and Wellbeing of Adults in Lancashire, and the Housing with Care Strategy documents were attached to the agenda and are currently being consulted upon. The documents set out in context what we are doing for adults in Lancashire and what was planned going forward and also recognised that there was a lack of suitable modern housing to support adults with care and support needs across Lancashire, which meant that some people moved into residential care prematurely or some people received care and support in housing that was not ideal. It would also be used to engage with a wider audience as part of a collaborative approach developing housing with care and support across Lancashire.

Schemes that were working already were:

- Reablement
- Home First
- Telecare
- Night time support/falls lifting service starting to see a big difference with this service
- Trusted Assessors asking home care providers what it felt like to work alongside the
 county council, trialling providers to do reviews, which would release social workers to
 carry out other duties and avoid the individual telling their story more than once
- Shared Lives would hopefully be extended
- Passport to Independence where the reablement strategy had been highly effective alongside more efficient ways of working.

The presentation also emphasised what would be done differently and what needed to be done together – the system is health and care, an equal partnership.

Specific areas for collaboration were as follows and would be reported on at future Health and Wellbeing Board meetings:

- Market Position Statement
- Better Care Fund
- Fee Uplifts
- Home response/falls lifting service
- Extra Care Housing
- Additional funding for winter pressures
- Intermediate care
- Workforce/apprenticeships

Colleagues around the table offered further support from Housing and Lancashire Fire and Rescue and would speak to Louise Taylor outside the meeting.

The Board raised that there needed to be one common language which had to be repeated again and again so it became a common language ie people instead of patient, wellbeing instead of sickness.

Louise Taylor confirmed that the presentation would be shown to Integrated Care Partnerships across the County and would see if the presentation could be filmed and then made available on line.

The Board agreed that this area had to be owned by all partners and stakeholders across Lancashire and needed to do more to bring it together under one workstream and own it collectively.

Resolved:

That the Health and Wellbeing Board received a presentation from Louise Taylor, the Executive Director for Adults and Health and Wellbeing, who outlined the key elements of each of the documents, highlighted the main issues and discussed the next steps.

6. Children's Services Update

Children and Young People's Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Transformation Programme

Dave Carr, Head of Service, Policy, Information and Commissioning and Gillian Simpson, NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit were welcomed to the meeting for another update on the Children and Young People's Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Transformation Programme.

This was the third year of delivery against the pan Lancashire Children and Young People's Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Transformation Programme which had resulted in the delivery of a number of key objectives which enabled children and young people to benefit from enhanced services and greater access to support. There had been significant engagement to inform the redesign of NHS funded Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and a core design developed for the future delivery of CAMHS services across the Lancashire and South Cumbria footprint. During the coming weeks, dialogue was expected to progress with NHS Providers and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to agree a timeline for the further development of costed proposals, subsequent evaluation and implementation.

This report provided an update relating to the Lancashire Children and Young People's Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Transformation Programme including an overview of achievements during the past year and progress in the redesign of community Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS).

The last update to the Lancashire Health and Wellbeing Board, in January 2018, highlighted good progress in delivery against the 26 objectives in the pan Lancashire Transformation Programme. The work had continued during 2018.

Key achievements included:

- Consulting with schools to inform the development of a Resilience Framework which
 would provide a common understanding of what was meant by resilience, the activities
 which could build resilience and provide opportunities to share good practice.
- Continued funding for the Lancashire Sports Trust to support young people in building resilience.
- Defining a "complementary offer" of non-clinical support to children, young people and their families.
- Increasing access to Youth Mental Health First Aid (YMHFA) Training, delivered through the new network of Primary Mental Health Workers across Lancashire and complementing YMHFA training commissioned by the County Council.
- Engagement with children, young people and stakeholders and the first stages of development of a new "Digital" offer for professionals, children, young people and their families
- Progressing the redesign of NHS funded CAMHS services. NHS CAMHS provider
 organisations had worked collaboratively with voluntary community and faith sector
 providers and with Clinical Commissioning Groups to co-produce a core model for
 CAMHS services across Lancashire and South Cumbria through a process of
 engagement and co-production with children, young people, families and wider
 stakeholders. Work was now progressing to establish the potential impact on funding
 and to agree timescales for the production of a final costed proposal, evaluation and
 potential implementation.
- Securing interim community services to support "children with behaviours that challenge", pending the CAMHS redesign.
- Opening the Specialist In-patient Mother and Baby Unit in October 2018.

There were a number of challenges which create pressure in the system and acted as a catalyst for the transformation programme to propose to the need to increase the scale and pace of change.

These were:

National Access Target

At least 35% of children and young people with a diagnosable mental health condition to receive treatment from an NHS-funded community mental health service, or for those already hitting 35%, an additional 7% was required. This meant we still had 65% not in an NHS funded service.

Lancashire County Council re-invested £1.1m in early help. Whilst this was positive in terms of supporting children and young people with the aim of providing support earlier and hopefully preventing CYP needing to access CAMHS, it did leave a £1.1m gap in CAMHS funding. CCGs used Transformation funding to fill that gap but this was not sustainable and an ongoing solution was needed.

Variations

There were significant variations in investment, in age range and in the services offered for Children and Young People with Emotional, Wellbeing and Mental Health across the Sustainable and Transformation Plan footprint.

Since the publication of the original Lancashire Transformation Plan in 2016, the programme had been clearly committed to redesigning, developing and commissioning services in line with the THRIVE model. THRIVE offered an opportunity to fundamentally change the way that services were conceptualised and delivered, moving away from the tiered approach to one that was integrated, person centred, goal focussed and evidence informed. THRIVE had been shown to reduce waiting times and improve experience of care. It was the nationally recognised model of choice and had been widely researched and evidence based and is central to the redesign.

The local performance for 2018/19 full year for the access target for Children and Young People Mental Health Services was broken down by each Clinical Commissioning Group area. All areas included within the Lancashire transformation plan area had achieved the target.

An issue was raised with regards performance on waiting times for CAMHS for each of the Clinical Commissioning Groups and requested a more in depth analysis on this. Gillian Simpson agreed to feed this information back at a future meeting when the Transformation Programme was due to return for an update.

As needs are higher than resources available, variation needs to be analysed and also access across the County too, as one are may need less resources than another area and the balancing of needs of the service needs looking into. The Board agreed that this should be raised through the Integrated Care System and feedback at a future meeting. It was also noted that for the following reports it would be useful to have sight of the impact of the other projects in the programme and what the outcomes are. An additional recommendation was also made.

Resolved: That the Health and Wellbeing:

- i) Noted the report and accompanying presentation.
- ii) Request that Clinical Commissioning Groups through the Integrated Care System look further at the issues around how we collectively fund and deliver mental health provision for children and young people in a more equitable way and bring other elements with the next update.

Lancashire Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Partnership – Update on the Implementation of the Written Statement of Action

Sian Rees, Improvement Partner SEND, Lancashire County Council updated the Board on the Lancashire local area SEND services which were inspected by Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) in November 2017 to judge how effectively the special educational needs and disability (SEND) reforms had been implemented, as set out in the

Children and Families Act 2014. The inspection identified two fundamental failings and twelve areas of significant concern.

The partners in Lancashire were required to produce a written statement of action, setting out the immediate priorities for action; the progress on implementing these actions are monitored by the Department for Education (DfE) and NHS England (NHSE).

Since the last Health and Wellbeing Board update in September 2018, work had continued to progress the actions set out in the written statement of action and these are detailed in paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2 in the report. Since the agenda circulation, the draft strategy and provision have been revised and will be presented to the SEND Partnership Board on 26 November 2018. Once they have agreed the amendments, Sian will circulate to the Health and Wellbeing Board.

This is the third update to the Health and Wellbeing Board.

John Readman informed the Board that the Clinical Commissioning Groups involvement had been really strong and that Mark Youlton who represented them had brought strength to the SEND Partnership Board and the Integrated Care System (ICS) were discussing Mark's replacement when he leaves shortly. Edwina Grant will also be replacing John Readman, Interim Director of Children's Services when she commences at Lancashire County Council in December 2018 as the new Executive Director on the Health and Wellbeing Board as well as the SEND Partnership Board.

The Chair expressed its thanks to John and Mark as well as the SEND Team for their work on this.

Resolved: That the Health and Wellbeing Board

- i) Noted the progress of delivery on the written statement of action;
- ii) Received an update on progress at the January Board meeting
- iii) Noted the likely changes to the external monitoring process in 2019 as described in paragraph 4.

7. Urgent Business

An issue was raised with regards the continued rail disruption across Lancashire and citizens unable to make hospital/GP appointments, commute to and from work especially in rural areas which is now causing health problems due to the stress this is causing.

Resolved: That the Health and Wellbeing Board noted this issue and would discuss at a future meeting.

8. Date of Next Meeting

The next scheduled meeting of the Board will be held at 10am on Tuesday, 29 January 2019 in Committee Room 'C' – Duke of Lancaster Room at County Hall, Preston.

L Sales Director of Corporate Services

County Hall Preston